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Figure 1: Outcomes framework from the Statement of Intent 2014–18 

 
Figure 1 shows the links between our activities, output class, the five key result areas from 
the Māori Language Strategy 2014 (MLS 2014), our outcomes, mission/purpose and vision. 
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Overview from the Chairman  

E te Minita, tēnā koe 

This report, which is intended for our government and public stakeholders, is dedicated to 
the memory of Erima Henare, the previous chair of the Board. Erima led us through many 
seasons of Matariki, and Matariki in turn took him and others of his noble cohort to join her in 
the celestial realms. As the peacemaker, the spiritual leader he was, we find it hard to accept 
his passing and we mourn him. 

As one year ends, another begins. Likewise, what Minister Sharples began, Minister Flavell 
continues, championing Māori language aspirations. The Māori Language Strategy is there 
to guide us, and the Māori Language Bill, which has been scrutinised by various groups and 
amended by the Māori Language Advisory Group into its final form, will set our future. 

I acknowledge the work of Board of the Commission, which has remained tireless in its 
support of Māori language revitalisation efforts. Longstanding Board members have ensured 
that a mature perspective on the work was maintained, and helped guide the previous Chief 
Executive, Glenis Philip-Barbara, in her role.  

Towards the end of the year, Board membership was refreshed by the appointment of new 
members Hinurewa Poutu – who is a product of revitalisation efforts – and Ruka Broughton 
for a short time, followed by myself, Professor Rawinia Higgins, and Charisma Rangipunga, 
all joining Awanuiārangi Black. Board members Dr Kāterina Edmonds and Dr Poia Rewi 
retired, although Poia was seconded as Acting Chief Executive following Glenis’ resignation. 
I offer my sincere thanks to these two, as well as to all of the staff, who have remained 
steadfast in these testing times. 

We have worked on many initiatives over the past year. We established the Centre for 
Research and Development, supported Māori Language Week, held the Māori Language 
Awards, distributed and managed Mā te Reo funds, provided support to the Māori Language 
Advisory Group, and continued to work on preserving the integrity of the Māori language and 
offering language assistance. 

However, the future direction of the Māori Language Commission rests with the Māori 
Language Bill. Once the Bill is passed, we will have a clearer idea about what we are to 
focus on going forward. 

This report acknowledges the past year. Now we must focus our attentions on the year 
ahead and our work to help ensure that the landscape of New Zealand continues to 
resonate with our indigenous tongue and that the language remains an ordinary means of 
communication in its natural home. Bring on the year, bring on the language, bring on the 
challenges! 

 

Wayne Ngata 
Chairman of the Board 
25 November 2015 
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Summary from the Chief Executive 

E ngā mana, e ngā reo, tēnā koutou katoa. 

The staff and board of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori can look back at the past year with a 
great deal of pride and satisfaction. 

The wider environment has provided a number of challenges. These include Census data 
that reveal a decline in the numbers of te reo Māori speakers, a Māori language sector that 
is wrestling with limited resource, and more appropriate structures and ways to work 
together, and the relevance of te reo Māori in a national and global context that is changing 
rapidly from week to week. In addition, a heavy workload has been borne heroically by a 
small team of staff and contractors here at Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 

Considering this background, it has been extremely pleasing to note that, despite the 
workload and challenges, we have met or exceeded the majority of our performance 
measures. 

During this time we have continued to deliver our core services (research and policy, 
language development, community funding and stakeholder engagement) while looking for 
ways to respond to the new demands on us.  

Despite the relatively small amounts invested, this annual report tells a story of how our 
services have a significant impact on the communities we work with (40,000 people engaged 
in activities funded by Mā te Reo, over 2,400 Māori language mentoring sessions, over 
520,000 resources distributed). 

It also evidences the commitment of a team of Māori language champions who have 
responded and will continue to respond to the challenges that the following years will 
undoubtedly pose in the best possible way – with clarity, purpose, commitment and hard 
work. 

Kia tau ngā manaakitanga ki a koutou katoa, 

 
 
Ngahiwi Apanui 
Tumuaki – Chief Executive 
25 November 2015 
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PART ONE: 2014/15 – THE YEAR IN REVIEW 

Summary of key activities 
 
Over 40,000 people were engaged in Māori language activities or accessed resources 

supported by the Mā te Reo programme, and grants worth 
$3.07 million In total value were approved from the Mā te Reo fund in round 14.1 

75+ whānau were supported to develop language proficiency and engage 
meaningfully in a total immersion environment  

2,410 individual Māori language mentoring sessions (which include planning and 
engagement in Māori language) were held with 150 whānau engaged in 
the He Kāinga Kōrerorero programme  

2 evaluation reports were delivered – the final scoping report on prerequisites 
for an evaluation framework that will measure the impact of our community 
funding programmes on the health and vitality of te reo Māori and an 
investigation into the numbers of te reo Māori speakers in Auckland. 

205 requests for advice from stakeholders about the use of Māori language in 
the context of everyday needs were responded to. 

3,607 edits were made to Māori language glossaries and lexicon, including 
112 new words created, recorded and made available for use externally 
31 out of 39 of people who were tested for general Māori language proficiency 

achieved level 3 (moderate) or higher  
$1.67 million worth of contracts were let for research investigations into key issues 

underlying the regeneration and revitalisation of te reo Māori and 
13 hui were held with stakeholder groups to discuss future research priorities. 

860 
 

community, whānau, hapū, iwi, public and private sector stakeholders 
attended Māori language events hosted by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori – 
the launch of Te Wiki o te Reo Māori2 and Ngā Tohu Reo Māori.3 Both 
events were facilitated in te reo Māori by the MCs and key speakers. 

529,063 resources to support the learning and acquisition of the Māori language 
were distributed nationally, including an average of  

30,000 hits per month of the audio files for ‘Kupu o te Wiki’.4 
4 existing websites5 were combined into a new, integrated, fully bi-lingual 

website using modern technology. 
69% of our performance targets were met, partially met or exceeded. 

1  Note that this figure is for approved grants and does not necessarily reconcile to Note 17 in the 
financial statements, which is for grants which have had contracts finalised and paid. There can be 
a delay between the approval of a grant and the finalisation of the contract. 

2  Māori Language Week 
3  The Māori Language Awards 
4  Word of the week. 
5  www.tetaurawhiri.govt.nz, www.kōreroMāori.co.nz, www.ma-tereo.co.nz and 

www.whakarauora.org.nz 
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Research and policy 

Vote: Māori Affairs includes $2 million per annum for financial years 2013/14 through to 
2018/19 for research and development projects that support the revitalisation of the Māori 
language. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori also provides robust and quality Māori language 
policy advice to the Minister for Māori Development, and has a lead responsibility, along with 
Te Puni Kōkiri, for monitoring and evaluating the programmes and services delivered by 
government agencies that support the revitalisation and regeneration of the Māori language. 

Work undertaken in this area is focused on:  

• connecting the Māori language programmes and services delivered by agencies to the 
five key areas in the Māori Language Strategy  

• building a monitoring and reporting framework to ensure the roles of government are 
successfully delivered and effectively co-ordinated. 

Establishing the research agenda 

During 2013/14, we established a research and development unit – He Puna Whakarauora. 
The unit is responsible for establishing and managing investments arising out of a national 
research agenda, as well as investing in activities to support research publication and 
promotion, stakeholder engagement and building capacity and capability. 

The establishment of He Puna Whakarauora took longer than was forecast in the SOI 2013–
16. The focus of the unit for 2014/15 was on the following five initial research priorities: 

 to establish a national research agenda for the regeneration and revitalisation of te reo 1.
Māori 

 to establish a research portal 2.
 to measure the health of te reo Māori in homes and communities 3.
 to measure the value of the contribution of Māori language and culture to the New 4.

Zealand economy 
 to evaluate the impact of language regeneration and revitalisation workshops and their 5.

role in community-led language regeneration and revitalisation. 

The status of each contract as at 30 June 2015 is outlined below. 

• Priority 1 resulted in a report being submitted to and received by the Board in 2014/15. 
In 2015/16 and out years, we will consider incorporating the recommendations into our 
work programme with a view to publish a final national Māori language research 
agenda by December 2015. 

• Work on priority 2, the research portal, began in 2013/14 and was subsequently 
incorporated into a new integrated website for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori during 
2014/15. We are currently sourcing and collating research articles for loading onto the 
research portal and expect to have the majority of articles available online by the end 
of the 2015/16 financial year. 

• For priority 3, the New Zealand Council for Educational Research was contracted to 
undertake a 20-month kaupapa Māori research project to measure the health of te reo 
Māori in homes and communities. Preparing and training the lead community 
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researchers and community researcher for the fieldwork will be completed in the first 
quarter of 2015/16.  

• For priority 4, the University of Waikato was contracted to measure the value of the 
contribution that Māori language and culture makes to the New Zealand economy. A 
literature review and preliminary work on the conceptual approach to the research and 
case studies is underway. Stakeholder interviews and case studies will be undertaken 
in the first quarter of 2015/16.  

• Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori contracted R&K Consultants Ltd to deliver two wānanga 
whakarauora reo and to evaluate the impact of these wānanga through community-led 
language planning initiatives that arise from participating in the wānanga. Work on the 
evaluation and outcomes framework is underway, with the information collection phase 
beginning in 2015/16. 

Policy development and advice 

Under the MLS 2014, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is the lead agency for six of the 11 roles 
of government in supporting the Māori language. In giving practical effect to those roles, Te 
Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori, in consultation with Te Puni Kōkiri, is tasked with: 

• developing a matrix of indicators for each of the five key result areas  

• undertaking a rolling programme of evaluations of the Māori language programmes 
and services delivered by government agencies 

• developing a monitoring and reporting framework and producing an annual report 
assessing the Māori language programmes provided by government agencies 

• designing and undertaking a survey of New Zealanders’ attitudes to te reo Māori and 
reporting on the findings. 

Matrix of indicators 

The matrix of indicators is designed to capture and detail progress in each of the key result 
areas supporting the revitalisation and regeneration of the Māori language. A detailed 
analysis was undertaken of the existing data gathered through the 2013 Census and the 
post-Census survey, Te Kūpenga, as well as the administrative data from Statistics New 
Zealand, the Ministry of Education, Te Puni Kōkiri and Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori to 
inform the development of proposed measures. 

We are finalising a draft of the matrix with Te Puni Kōkiri, and will begin agency consultation 
on the draft in the second quarter of 2015/16. 

Rolling programme of evaluations 

There are a number of Māori language programmes and services by government agencies. 
Seven agencies were confirmed in the MLS 2014 with various leadership responsibilities for 
the roles of government in supporting the Māori language.6 

6  The following were confirmed as lead agencies: Ministry for Culture and Heritage, Ministry of 
Education, Department of Internal Affairs, Te Māngai Pāho, Māori Television Service, Te Puni 
Kōkiri and Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 
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The initial scoping work on the rolling programme of evaluations has begun. Further work will 
progress once the matrix of indicators is finalised and confirmed as the data source for 
measuring progress in each of the five key result areas. The information gathered through 
the matrix will also be used to assess the alignment of the Māori language programmes 
delivered by lead agencies and by the agencies within their portfolios and sector, to the MLS 
key result areas and in reviewing ‘value for money’ within and across agency delivered Māori 
language programmes and services.  

Annual monitoring report 

A draft monitoring and reporting framework has been provided to agencies for review and 
comment. We seek confirmation of the final framework at the same time as we seek to 
confirm the matrix of indicators. 

The rolling programme of evaluations and the monitoring and reporting framework form the 
basis of assessing the Māori language programmes and services delivered by agencies. We 
intend to provide an interim annual report to cover 2014/15. A full annual report will be 
produced and published by the end of September 2016.  

Attitudes survey 

A key aspect of being able to support the revitalisation and regeneration of te reo Māori is a 
clear understanding of the attitudes New Zealanders have towards the language. Te Puni 
Kōkiri undertook four such surveys in 2000, 2003, 2006 and 2009. 
A concept plan for a new national survey on attitudes to te reo Māori was completed during 
2014/15. Final decisions for the implementation of the survey are expected in the first 
quarter of 2015/16 after which the options for implementation will be discussed with other 
interested agencies. The findings of the survey are planned for release in 2016/17.  

Proof of performance 

Our past trends in performance and performance against the SPE 2014/15 targets are 
shown in table 1. 

Of the six performance measures for the research and policy workstream:  

• one was exceeded  

• one was met in full  

• two were partially met  

• one was not met  

• one was unable to be reported on. 

Expenditure for 2014/15: 

• budget  – $3,970,695 

• actual  – $2,199,074 

The underspend of $1,771,621 was primarily caused by the later than forecast establishment 
of the research unit and the consequential delays to research contract payments. 

 

12 | P a g e  

 



 

Table 1: Policy and research – performance against SPE measures and forecasts 

POLICY AND RESEARCH 
MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance Variance Notes 

Effectiveness indicators               

Number of times the 
occasional discussion 
papers on the Māori 
language are downloaded 
by stakeholders 

New measure 200 
downloads 

Not able to be 
reported N/A 

Four papers were loaded to the Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori website. However, there was no capacity to 
monitor downloads of individual documents on the old 

website with its outdated technology.  

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo 

Service management indicators              

Confirmation and publication 
of the Māori Language 
research agenda 

New measure By April 
2015 

Confirmation of 
the agenda was 

achieved but 
not publication  

Partly 
completed 

 

The draft report on a national research agenda was 
received by 30 April. Planning to incorporate the 

recommendations into the 2015/16 and outyears' work 
programmes will be undertaken in the first half of the 

2015/16 financial year.  

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo 

Completing research 
contracts for phase 1 of the 
research agenda 

New measure By April 
2015 

4 out of 5 
contracts were 

signed by 
30 April 2015  

(20%) 
 

Partly completed, with the final contract signed by 
30 June 2015. 

Note: This measure was intended to track how many 
of the initial contracts were in place by 30 April 2015. It 
was never intended that all five contracts would have 

all work completed by 30 April. 

Te mana o te reo 

Establishing the 
scholarships programme (to 
increase national interest 
and engagement) 

New measure By April 
2015 

Did not 
complete N/A The April 2015 deadline was not met.  Te mana o te reo 

Output trends                

Number of occasional 
discussion papers provided 
to Māori language 
stakeholders 

New measure 4 4 0% 
Met forecast.  

Four papers were published on the old  
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori website.  

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo 
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POLICY AND RESEARCH 
MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance Variance Notes 

Number of hui held to 
confirm future research 
priorities 

New measure 10 13 30% Exceeded forecast. 
 

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo 
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Language development 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori provides a range of language development activity, intended 
to maintain the linguistic and cultural integrity of the language. We have statutory 
responsibilities under the Māori Language Act to set criteria for the assessment of 
proficiency in the Māori language and to issue certificates of competency in translation and 
interpretation. 

In addition to our statutory responsibilities, we:  

• provide responses to queries about the use of the language 

• set standards for the development of, and develop, new words  

• ensure the glossaries and dictionaries which we have developed are updated so 
modern terms and concepts are captured 

• maintain a corpus (a database of linguistic examples against which usage can be 
checked and validated) 

• set standards for the expert training of translators and interpreters, testing and 
certifying their proficiency 

• provide opportunities for staff of organisations, students and members of the public to 
test their proficiency in te reo Māori. 

Translator and interpreter licensing 

We currently provide training for translators and interpreters to increase the current pool of 
providers in this highly specialised. The pass mark for the exams is 80 percent. 

The translator exam in 2014/15 focused on translation in the education sector. Seven 
candidates sat the exam; three passed and were licensed as translators.  

No-one was licenced as an interpreter during the year, although two candidates sat the 
exam. 

Testing general te reo proficiency 

In 2014/15, 39 people sat the Whakamātauria Tō Reo Māori (level finder) exam. This is a 
similar number to those sitting in past years but a reduction from the peak in 2013/14 when 
Auckland University used the exam to test the proficiency of its Māori medium teacher 
trainees.  

The majority (79 percent) of the sitters achieved level 3 (moderate proficiency) or higher in 
the exams, reflecting a trend of rising proficiency.  

Supporting the maintenance of the quality and integrity of te reo Māori 

Over the year, our language experts:  

• responded to 205 external requests for advice; ranging from requests for translation 
(from English to Māori and vice versa), information on pronunciation and the correct 
use of terms, to orthographical checks on place names. The advice provided was used 
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by public and private organisations and individuals, including for Treaty of Waitangi 
settlements. The majority of requests were responded to within five calendar days 
although larger and more complex enquiries took longer 

• made more than 3,600 new entries and edits to the Māori language glossaries and 
dictionaries we maintain, including the second edition of a monolingual Māori 
dictionary for adults 

• developed and recorded 112 new words  

• undertook rigorous quality checks on both internal and external resources and 
publications. 

Proof of performance 

Our past trends in performance and performance against the SPE 2014/15 targets are 
shown in table 2. 

Of the 17 performance measures in this activity area: 

• four were exceeded 

• four were met 

• seven were not met (of which six were demand-driven) 

• one was not able to be reported on 

• one had no target. 

Expenditure for 2014/15: 

• budget  – $959,889 

• actual  – $1,092,707. 

The overspend of $132,818 is attributable to the use of contractors to fill staff positions for 
much of the year. 
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Table 2: Language development – performance against SPE measures and forecasts 

LANGUAGE 
DEVELOPMENT 

MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance Variance Notes 

Effectiveness indicators                

Content for Te Toi Reo Māori 
(translator and interpreter) 
training aligns with 
international best practice for 
translators and interpreters 

New measure 100% 100% 100% 0% 
Met forecast. 

Exam training was delivered at the kura reo held in 
January 2015 at Ahuriri. 

Te kounga o te reo 

Service management indicators               

Percentage of external 
queries about the Māori 
Language that are 
responded to within 5 
calendar days 

New measure 94% 95% 62% (35%) 
Did not meet forecast. Most requests are responded to 

within 1-2 days; however, staffing changes and the use of 
external contractors to assist the process meant some 

more complex queries have taken longer. 
Te kounga o te reo 

Percentage of new entries 
and edits to Māori language 
glossaries and lexicon that 
are processed within 10 
working days 

99% 99% 99% 99% Not able to be 
reported. N/A 

Because of staff vacancies, this work was undertaken by 
contractors over Q3 and Q4. Accordingly, there was no 
alignment between the timing of new entries/edits being 

identified and the processing of the work. 
Te kounga o te reo 

Output trends                 

Number of external queries 
about the Māori language 
received 

351 395 288 300 205 (32%) Did not meet forecast. 
Measure is demand driven. Te kounga o te reo 

Analysis of queries (by type 
of enquirer, location, type of 
query and intended use of 
information) 

New measure 

No target 
but 

provides a 
picture of 

the 
workload 

44% of requests (99) have been received from public sector agencies; 47% (106) from 
private sector agencies or individuals and 9% (21) have been internal. Te kounga o te reo 

17 | P a g e  

 



 

LANGUAGE 
DEVELOPMENT 

MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance Variance Notes 

Number of new entries/edits/ 
deletions to Māori language 
glossaries and lexicon  

2,266 2,385 2,423 2,000 3,607 80% 
Significantly exceeded forecast. 

Work undertaken by external contractors because of staff 
vacancies. 

Te kounga o te reo 

Number of new words 
developed and recorded in 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori new words database 

5 149 230 >230 112 (51%) Did not meet forecast. 
Creation of new words is in response to demand only.  Te kounga o te reo 

Number of Whakamātauria 
Tō Reo Māori (Level Finder 
Examinations) examinations 
set, number of sitters 

5 exams 4 exams 5 exams 

Maintain 
or 

improve 
trend 

6 20% Exceeded forecast 

Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mana o te reo 44 sitters 42 sitters 102 

sitters 39 (38%) 

Did not meet forecast (trend average is 63) 
Measure is demand driven. Auckland University delayed 
the LFE sitting planned for May 2015 until the 2015/16 

year. The University began using the LFE exam to assess 
the te reo proficiency of its Māori teaching trainees in 

2014/15, which significantly increased the numbers sitting 
and therefore the trend average for the past three years. 

Percentage of sitters 
achieving Level 3 (moderate 
proficiency) 

52% 50% 66% 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 
79% 26% Exceeded forecast (trend average is 56%) Te kounga o te reo; 

Te mana o te reo 

Toi Reo Māori translator 
exam - number of exams, 
sitters and pass rate  

1 exam 1 exam 1 exam Maintain 
or 

improve 
trend 

1 exam 0% Met forecast 

Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mana o te reo 3 sitters 9 sitters 15 sitters 7 sitters (22%) Did not meet forecast (trend average is 9).  

Measure is demand-driven 

0% 22% 20% 43% 206% Significantly exceeded forecast (trend average is 14%) 
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LANGUAGE 
DEVELOPMENT 

MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance Variance Notes 

Toi Reo Māori interpreter 
exam - number of exams, 
sitters and pass rate 

1 exam 1 exam 1 exam 

Maintain 
or 

improve 
trend 

1 exam 0% Met forecast 

Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mana o te reo 

3 sitters 4 sitters 4 sitters 2 sitters (46%) Did not meet forecast (trend average is 3.7)  
Measure is demand-driven 

0% 25% 0% 0% (100%) 
Did not meet forecast (trend average is 8%).  

Measure is demand driven - dependent on abilities of 
candidates and the pass mark is 80% 

Number of Toi Reo Māori 
(translator/interpreter) 
training sessions per year 

New measure 1 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 
1 0% 

Met forecast.  
Exam training was delivered at the kura reo held in 

January 2015 at Ahuriri. 
Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mana o te reo 
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Community funding 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori supports whānau, hapū, iwi and Māori language community-
driven initiatives to revitalise the language through the following funds: Mā te Reo, He 
Kāinga Kōrerorero (HKK) and Community Based Language Initiatives (CBLI). We manage 
funding proposals/applications and subsequent contracts and seek to build relationships with 
Māori language stakeholders, providers and other funders working with the sector. 

The intention of our funding activities is that Māori have multiple opportunities to apply for 
and receive appropriate levels of support. A core principle of home and community-based 
language development is that initiatives designed, controlled and run by communities tend to 
be more successful than those developed independently of communities and later imposed 
on them. The role of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is to support, but not lead, community 
initiatives. 

Mā te Reo 

Mā te Reo has an annual contestable funding round, as well as a small number of strategic 
grants, and was first established in 2001. Its purpose is to provide a financial contribution to 
community-originated projects that increase language use and proficiency and strengthen 
the ability of communities to lead language regeneration. Funding is targeted at iwi, hapū, 
marae, whānau, Māori organisations and individuals. A number of providers have multiple 
contracts.  

Some of the impact of the Mā te Reo programme can be seen in the feedback from some of 
the organisations which received funding. 

He Kāinga Kōrerorero (HKK) 

This programme started as a pilot scheme in 2004 and has grown to a programme worth 
$1.5 million mentoring 150 whānau in at least 15 regions. The programme is delivered by Te 
Ataarangi. In this programme, mentors:  

• advise whānau on ways to facilitate the intergenerational transmission of te reo Māori 

• design Māori language plans tailored to their needs and help whānau implement them 

• provide language resources to use in the home.  

All whānau meet regularly with their mentor and with others at monthly hui.  

Community Based Language Initiatives (CBLI) 

The CBLI programme aims to support the development of Māori language teaching, learning 
materials, and the language skills of adults and caregivers with children in Māori immersion 
education or learning te reo Māori. CBLI funding is offered to iwi and Māori organisations. Iwi 
involved in a CBLI carry out strategic projects, including scoping exercises, research and 
evaluation and running special and innovative projects.  

In 2013/14, three contracts were let, worth a total of $4.1 million over periods of one to five 
years, including $3.84 million for a five-year contract with Te Ataarangi Trust to deliver a new 
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programme, Te Kura Whānau Reo, delivered to 75 whānau. All three contracts covered both 
the 2013/14 and 2014/15 years.  

Over 2015/16 this programme will be reviewed, refined and integrated into the other funding 
that we provide. 

Trends in funding patterns 

With the addition of HKK and CBLI to our baseline funding over the last two financial years, 
the level of funding we provide to support community language revitalisation and 
regeneration has more than doubled (see figure 2). 

Figure 2: Trends in community funding rounds 2010 to 2014 

 

Table 3 shows the distribution of our community funding across the country over 2014/15. 

Table 3: Regional community funding investment in 2014/15 

 

Approved 
applications 

Total 
investment 

Te Tai Tokerau 7 $349,204 
Tāmakimakaurau 13 $607,411 
Waikato 16 $711,582 
Waiariki (incl. Te Moana o Toi) 13 $807,034 
Ikaroa-Rāwhiti 19 $814,332 

$0.00

$500,000.00

$1,000,000.00

$1,500,000.00

$2,000,000.00

$2,500,000.00

$3,000,000.00

$3,500,000.00

$4,000,000.00

$4,500,000.00

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Te kura whānau reo Iwi developed Māori language strategies (CBLI)
Strategic grants Wānanga reo (including language programmes)
Language resources (including ICT) Events & promotions
Kura reo ā-iwi Language planning
Trendline
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Approved 
applications 

Total 
investment 

Te Tai Hau-a-uru 9 $696,365 
Te Whanganui-a-Tara 15 $873,548 
Te Waipounamu (incl. Chatham Islands) 7 $549,244 

 
99 $5,408,720 

It should be noted that the dollar value of investments in the HKK and Te Kura Whānau Reo 
programmes (a total of $2,336,040 in 2014/15) have been pro-rated to the regions based on 
the reported number of whānau supported in each region. Because of this, the figures shown 
in table 3 should be read as being indicative only. 

Describing the impact of our 
funding 

Stories from Mā te Reo projects 

 (Te Reo Wainene o Tua Ltd) 
“The primary objective of Te Reo 
Wainene o Tua 2014 was to deliver a 
Māori storytelling event to the tamariki, 
rangatahi and wider community in 
Wellington, in 100% te reo Māori. We 
were fortunate enough to present our 
kaupapa at the prestigious National 
Library of NZ (NLNZ). Firstly, this event 
and its delivery and content contributed 
to the promotion and use of te reo Māori 
within the National Library of NZ and its 
surrounding environments. Furthermore, 
due to increased demand, on days 1 
and 2 of the event we moved our 
storytelling sessions out into the public 
space of the NLNZ which was very well 
received by our audience and the 
general public. Ultimately, this enabled 
us to share te reo Māori and our 
kaupapa with the general public. 
Secondly, our audience were fully 

immersed in our te reo Māori storytelling experience and environment. This enabled our 
audience to participate, listen, learn, and take our stories away with them into their own 
whānau, households and local communities within Wellington, and indeed the wider 
community of the Wellington region.”  

(Te Reo Irirangi o Ngāti Maniapoto Inc) 
“This showcased the use of te reo Māori should not just be restricted to special occasions 
such as tangihanga or huihuinga on the marae. It also allowed learners of te reo Māori to be 
confident speakers in a public environment and to hear te mita o Maniapoto in a fun social 
and entertaining way. It was important to Te Reo Irirangi o Ngāti Maniapoto that our Masters 
of Ceremonies and participants spoke only in te reo Māori.” 
 

(The Polyfest Trust) 

Picture 1: Te Reo Wainene o Tua 2014 
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“Our key target audience was tamariki/taiohi/rangatahi however the event does include a 
hugely diverse audience ranging from babies to kaumātua in age alongside extremely 
diverse ethnicities. It was evident that via our MCees live broadcastings over the four days in 
te reo Māori on stage and from the judges written feedback to tutors and performers any and 
all Māori language initiatives operating at any level who were present at the event were 
significantly enhanced, rewarded. The support of Mā Te Reo for this event was enormous.” 

Picture 2: ASB Polyfest Māori Stage – Ngā Oho Division 2 Overall Winners - Ngā Puna o Waiorea 

 
 

 Stories from the first year of Te Kura Whānau Reo 

This programme is funded under CBLI. At the start of the programme: 

“The majority of members within each whānau had little or no reo. They knew a few basic 
words and short phrases such as Tēnā koe, Kia ora, Kei te pai. Whānau members with high 
levels of language proficiency had low levels of language use. They could hold a basic 
everyday conversation but did not have many opportunities to kōrero Māori. Tamariki would 
kōrero Māori at kura and kōhanga reo but did not always use the reo in the home.” (Te Kura 
Whānau Reo Milestone 6 report) 

By the end of the year: 

“Whānau confidence to kōrero Māori has grown. This is particularly evident where whānau 
are becoming more comfortable using the reo outside of the facilitated immersion sessions. 
In addition to the more familiar settings of kapa haka and kōhanga reo, whānau are stepping 
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out of their comfort zones to include reo in a wider range of settings including sporting 
events, on the marae, at the beach and at the playground. 

Pouārahi Reo report that grandparents, parents and mokos are interacting more with each 
other which is an indication of increased intergenerational language transmission.  

Whānau are researching their whakapapa and iwi connections and are interested in 
furthering their knowledge about local stories and customs. Whānau enjoy using mahi rākau 
to share their knowledge with others. They are learning local waiata and pātere and guest 
speakers are coming forth to kōrero about history, tikanga and kawa. They are learning 
about the whare tūpuna and have increased participation on the marae.” (Te Kura Whānau 
Reo Milestone 6 report). 

Proof of performance 

Our past trends in performance and performance against the SPE 2014/15 targets are 
shown in table 3. 

Of the ten performance measures in this activity area: 

• five were exceeded 

• three were met 

• two had no target. 

Expenditure for 2014/15: 

• budget  – $7,795,901 

• actual  – $6,214,675 

The underspend of $1,581,226 is primarily the result of only four contracts from CBLI being 
let in 2014/15. 
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Table 4: Community funding – performance against SPE measures and forecasts 

COMMUNITY FUNDING 
MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

Performance Variance Notes 

Effectiveness indicators                 
Percentage of Mā te 
Reo/CBLI projects that meet 
or exceed expectations of the 
programme delivery (Mā te 
Reo by funding round; CBLI 
by financial year) 

Round 10 
87% 

Round 
11 

94% 

Round 
12 

90% 
Round 13 

≥ 90% 96% 7% 
Exceeded forecast. 

Of the 52 projects which have finished to date, 50 
completed successfully and 2 did not deliver on the 

expected programme.  

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 

Service management indicators               
Percentage of approved Mā 
te Reo/CBLI applications that 
are contracted (Mā te Reo by 
funding round; CBLI by 
financial year) 

100% 91% 78% 
75% in 

the year 
of the 
round 

95% 26% 
Exceeded forecast. 

(Note: Of the 97 approved Mā te Reo applications in 
round 14, 6 are currently still in negotiations.) 

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 

Successful Mā te Reo/CBLI 
applications receive 
notification of a contract 
within four weeks of the 
board decision to approve 

New measure 90% 100% 11% 
Exceeded forecast. 

All applicants received notification of a contract within 
four weeks of Board approval. 

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 

An annual evaluation is 
undertaken of an aspect of 
community funding 
(processes, practices, 
programmes or outcomes) 

New measure 2 1 2 100% 

Exceeded forecast. 
Dr Richard Benton completed two reports in the year: a 

scoping report on prerequisites for an evaluation 
framework and an investigation into the numbers of te 

reo speakers in Auckland. 

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo 

Output trends                 
The number of Mā te 
Reo/CBLI applications, $ 
applied for, number of grants 
approved and $ approved 

New measure 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 

In round 14, 185 applications (including 7 strategic grant applications) were received 
requesting $7,750,275. Of the 185 applications received, 97 applications worth 

$3,071,351 were approved funding. 
Te ako i te reo; 

Te kōrerorero o te reo 

25 | P a g e  

 



 

COMMUNITY FUNDING 
MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

Performance Variance Notes 

Funding is distributed across 
a range of activities and 
types of organisation 
throughout Aotearoa 

New measure 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 

Examples of funding support in round 14 include the Māori stage at Polyfest in 
Auckland, a Wānanga Reo in Dunedin, a Language Plan for Te Iwi o Ngāti Koata, 

Fish factsheets produced in te reo by NZ Landcare Trust, a mobile app for 
intermediate te reo speakers 

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 

Numbers of whānau and regions involved in specific programmes          

He Kāinga Kōrerorero 

161 
whānau 

150 
whānau 

150 
whānau 

150 
whānau 150 whānau 0% Met forecast 

HKK contract is on track with 150 whānau across 17 
regions. Milestone 3 (to 31 March) was completed. 

Milestone 4 is due 31 July 2015. 

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 17 

regions 
>15 

regions 
18 

regions 
15 

regions 17 regions 13% 

Te Kura Whānau Reo (CBLI) New measure 75 
whānau 

75 
whānau 75 whānau 0% 

Met forecast 
TKWR contract is on track with 75 whānau. Milestone 6 

completed. 
Te ako i te reo; 

Te kōrerorero o te reo 

The percentage of Mā te Reo/CBLI applicants and successful contractors who are:        

First time applicants New measure 46% ≥ 40% 49% 23% 

Exceeded forecast 
37 out of 75 of successful providers to MTR Round 14 

had applied for the first time.  
(Note that several providers had multiple successful 

applications.) 

Te ako i te reo; 
Te kōrerorero o te reo 

Repeat applicants (those with 
> 4 years' support since 

Round 10) 
New measure 19% ≥ 20% 19% (5%) 

Met forecast. 
14 out of 75 MTR Round 14 successful providers had 

received funding for >4 years since Round 10.  
Te ako i te reo; 

Te kōrerorero o te reo 
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Stakeholder engagement 

One of the principal responsibilities of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is to promote the use of 
te reo as a living language and as an ordinary means of communication. To do so, we use a 
variety of tools to engage with Māori language stakeholders including: 

• managing events – Te Wiki o te Reo Māori, Ngā Tohu Reo Māori and specific targeted 
campaigns – and creating and distributing resources to support the events and 
campaigns 

• working with the media and key stakeholders on promotional campaigns to promote 
the Māori language 

• using electronic and social media to engage with the community. 

In addition, both the MLS 2014 and the Minister for Māori Development expect us to 
collaborate with others within the Māori language sector on issues of mutual interest. 

Events and promotional campaigns 

We undertake the management of two major events each year: the launch of Māori 
Language Week (Te Wiki o te Reo Māori) and the Māori Language Awards (Ngā Tohu Reo 
Māori), plus a number of more targeted campaigns to promote the revitalisation and use of 
the Māori language. 

One of our primary responsibilities is to promote Māori language revitalisation.  

Te Wiki o te Reo Māori 2014 

Outside of the education sector, a key tool for expanding support for te reo Māori is the 
annual Te Wiki o te Reo Māori campaign. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori manages the launch 
for the week and produces a wide range of resources to support the learning and acquisition 
of Māori language.  

The theme for Māori Language Week 2014 was: Te Kupu o Te Wiki – The Word of the 
Week. This theme saw the introduction of a new Māori word every week for 50 weeks, 
encouraging an increase in the nation’s vocabulary. The intention of the theme was to help 
to build confidence, usage and engagement in te reo. Selection of words was based on their 
usefulness in everyday conversation.  

There were many highlights for this week including: 

• Māori Language Week song ‘Aotearoa’, performed by Stan Walker, Maisey Rika, Troy 
Kingi and Ria Hall, has become familiar across the country and on television and radio. 
It is often played at national public events. 

• over 1,100 new likes were gained on the Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori Facebook page for 
this week alone, and in excess of 6,000 new likes gained during the year, indicating 
that Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori has public support. 

Ngā Tohu Reo Māori 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori manages the annual Ngā Tohu Reo Māori awards, which 
include awards recognising commitment and dedication to the revitalisation of te reo Māori. 
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The 2014 awards ceremony, held in November in Rotorua, included 16 categories covering 
activities in Te Wiki o te Reo Māori, community, local and central government, broadcasting, 
information technology, education, print and the private sector. Winners included: 

• Kaa Williams – as the recipient of the Taku Toa Takimano. The award recognises 
efforts and commitment to te reo Māori and acknowledges that individual leadership 
plays a critical role in the development and endurance of language revitalisation 
(winner individual award for Māori language leadership) 

• Te Rangimonoa Tahi-Rangihau and Michael Rangihau – as the winners of the 
senior and junior Ngā Manu Kōrero competitions 

• Genesis Energy – winner, private sector. 

Picture 3: Left to right: Colleen Walters, Michael Rangihau, Te Rangimonoa Tahi-Rangihau, Te Hauauru 
Tahi-Rangihau 

 

Other promotional campaigns 

Along with our primary promotional work on the launch of Te Wiki o te Reo Māori and Ngā 
Tohu Reo Māori, we also support promotional activities at other major events (eg Te 
Matatini). 

In addition to the major events work, we also work with other organisations to promote the 
use of the Māori language in ordinary environments.  

During 2014/15, we worked with the emergency services – New Zealand Police, St John 
Ambulance and New Zealand Fire Service – to extend their existing support for signage in 
Māori. In support of the 23 February word of the week ‘pirihimana’ (police officer), it was 
agreed that the emergency services would launch vehicles showing bilingual signage. 
Picture 4 shows the signage on the Fire Service and St John Ambulance vehicles at the 
launch in Gisborne, the region which has the highest proportion of Māori language speakers. 
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Picture 4: Emergency services vehicles, Gisborne, February 2015 

 

Later in the year, we assisted with the promotion of a bilingual Māori/English menu at 
Wellington’s fine dining restaurant, Whitebait.  

 “We’re paying homage to kai moana in every way – and we wanted to celebrate the 
language as part of our food philosophy” said Executive Chef and owner Paul Hoather.  

A small sample of terms in the menu that were translated for Whitebait includes: 

• Pacific oysters   Tio repe 

• Snapper and clam ceviche Ika mata tāmure tuangi 

• Scampi crudo   Kēwai mata 

• Cannoli    Pōkai parai 

Te reo Māori and food work well together, it’s relaxing, it’s natural and it’s hoped that the use 
of te reo will become second nature in New Zealand restaurants 

Engagement using electronic media  

Social media presence 

We recognise the power of social media as a way of engaging with both current speakers 
and learners of te reo Māori. While we are not teachers of the language, we can provide a 
platform for learners and more experienced speakers to support each other’s language 
acquisition and use. 
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Our primary social media audience is leveraged off two Facebook pages, set up several 
years ago. The purpose of both pages is to share resources, news items, apps, videos, 
songs, links and pānui7. Figure 3 shows the trend in our social media engagement. 

Figure 3: Trends in Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori social media 

 

Profiles for each page as at 30 June 2015 are as follows: 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori (corporate) Facebook page 

• 1,832 likes (1,300 – 2014; 1,027 – 2013) 

• 69 percent of these were women (67 percent – 2014) 

• 42 percent were aged 25 to 44 (61 percent – 2014) 

• around 20 percent live in Auckland, with the next largest groups living in Wellington, 
Hamilton and Australia 

• all of our postings to this page are in te reo. 

Te Wiki o te Reo Māori Facebook page 

• 15,132 likes (9,100 – 2014; 6,949 – 2013) 

• 76 percent women (constant from 2014, a result which is likely to reflect the gender 
balance of the teaching profession) 

• 47 percent aged 25 to 44 (58 percent – 2014) 

• around 20 percent live in Auckland, with the next largest groups in Wellington and 
Christchurch then Australia  

7  Notices or newsletters. 
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• the page is bilingual and we post in both te reo and English. 

Twitter 

In April 2014, we opened a Twitter account where we try to encourage all followers to tweet 
in te reo. As at 30 June 2015, the account has 1,779 followers.  

Website redevelopment 

Over the second half of 2014/15, we developed a new, integrated website to replace four 
existing separate sites.8 The new site, which is fully bilingual and built on the all-of-
government Common Web Platform, went live in early July. In the first five weeks of 
operation, including the Māori Language Week 2015 (the peak period of usage), the new 
website had had: 

• 61,871 sessions by 44,459 users who spent an average of nearly 3.5 minutes on the 
site 

• 262,600 pageviews 

• 28% of users returned for a second visit 

Of the users, the great majority (88%) were from New Zealand, with other top countries 
being Australia (4.4%), the United States (2.7%), followed by the United Kingdom, Canada, 
Germany, France, Fiji and China. 

Users based in Auckland made up 35% of traffic, with smaller numbers in Wellington 
(17.7%), Christchurch (10%), Hamilton (4.6%), then Tauranga, Dunedin, Napier, Palmerston 
North and Nelson. 

Approximately 31% were using tablets or other mobile devices.  

Proof of performance 

Our past trends in performance and performance against the SPE 2014/15 targets are 
shown in table 5. 

Of the six performance measures in this activity area: 

• three were exceeded 

• one was met 

• one was not met 

• one had no target. 

Expenditure for 2014/15: 

• budget  – $978,334 

• actual  – $ 939,545 

The small underspend is considered to be minimal. 

8  www.tetaurawhiri.govt.nz, www.kōreroMāori.co.nz, www.ma-tereo.co.nz and 
www.whakarauora.org.nz 
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Table 5: Stakeholder engagement – performance against SPE measures and forecasts 
STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 

MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance  Variance Notes 

Effectiveness indicators                
Percentage of resources, 
briefings and media releases 
that meet Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori quality standards. 

New measure 100% 97% (3%) 
Met forecast. 

A sign-off process is in place where a certified translator 
translates ML content and a second person quality 

checks the content in both English and te reo Māori. 
Te kounga o te reo 

Percentage of customers 
who report that resources 
produced to support the 
acquisition of te reo Māori 
are helpful. 

New measure 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 
91% 8% 

Met forecast (based on unaudited baseline of 84% from 
2013/14) 

(Results of SurveyMonkey on TWRM resources 
undertaken in Sept 2014 and manual survey at Te 

Matatini. 

Te mana o te reo; 
Te kounga o te reo;  
Te kōrerotanga o te 

reo 

Service management indicators               

Number of relationships with 
key stakeholders which are 
formalised (eg by Heads of 
Agreement, Memorandum of 
Understanding, a 
commitment to formal 
meetings, establishing a 
working party). 

New measure 3 4 33% 

Exceeded forecast.  
A core working group comprising Te Puni Kōkiri, Human 
Rights Commission, Ministry of Education and NZ Post 
meets every 6 weeks to oversee progress for Te Wiki o 

te Reo Māori and Ngā Tohu Reo Māori. Other key 
groups involved include Plunket and Te Kupu o te Ra 
(te Wiki o te Reo Māori) and Te Wānanga o Aotearoa, 
Microsoft, Te Māngai Pāho, Vodafone and Te Matatini 

(Ngā Tohu Reo Māori). 

Te mana o te reo; 
Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mārama pū ki te 

whakaora reo 

Number of threads on 
Twitter or Facebook pages 
used by Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori which are over 80 
percent in te reo 

New measure 600 358 (40%) 
Did not meet forecast. 

The figures previously reported have been reviewed 
and reworked to provide a realistic assessment of 

engagement with stakeholders. 

Te mana o te reo; 
Te mārama pū ki te 

whakaora reo 
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STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 

MEASURES 

PAST TRENDS 2014-15 PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT TO 
MĀORI LANGUAGE 

STRATEGY 2014 
2011-12 
actual 

2012-13 
actual 

2013-14 
actual Forecast Actual 

performance  Variance Notes 

Output trends                 
Number of resources to 
support the acquisition and 
use of te reo Māori delivered 
to customers (physical 
delivery and online 
resources downloaded).9 

522,475 203,952 347,660  320,000 529,063 65% 
Exceeded forecast. Nearly 170,000 files were 

downloaded, plus 1,400 videos viewed. However, the 
majority of the downloads are for the audio files, which 
averaged nearly 30,000 a month over the entire year 

Te mana o te reo; 
Te kounga o te reo; 
Te mārama pū ki te 

whakaora reo 

Profiles of followers of Te 
Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori in 
social media. 

New measure 
Maintain 

or 
improve 

trend 
18,850 0% 

Includes follows and likes on one Twitter account and 
two Facebook pages. (See also the social media 

section above) 
Te mana o te reo 

9  Figures are a sum of the copies of the quarterly publication, He Muka, and the Te Wiki o te Reo Māori resources produced and distributed which were 
previously reported as separate measures. 
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Outcomes performance 

Our Statement of Intent specifies our three overarching outcomes: 

• Te reo Māori is a living language that reflects life and culture in Aotearoa 

• Te reo Māori becomes an ordinary means of communication in the home 

• More New Zealanders engage with te reo. 

Figure 1 on page 2 shows the relationship between our outcomes and the five key result 
areas from the Māori Language Strategy 2014 ( MLS 2014). 

The Statement of Intent also contains a number of longer term measures which are aligned 
to each of the key result areas from the MLS 2014.  

We collect baseline data and monitor results and trends as shown in table 6. 
 

Table 6: MLS key result area measures 
MLS 2014 key result 
areas 

Measures for key result 
areas 2014/15 Results 

Te mana o te reo  
Increasing the status of 
the Māori language in 
New Zealand society 

Level of media commentary 
(sampled during specific 
periods of the year) that is 
positive towards Māori 
language 

We monitored news stories about the 
Māori language over the year using 
Google Alerts, tracking stories from radio, 
television, newspapers and online – both 
general and Māori-focused outlets. Each 
story was reviewed and analysed by a 
policy advisor as being positive, negative 
or neutral. 
 
Of the 176 stories tracked, 82% were 
assessed as positive, 12% neutral and 6% 
negative. 

Te ako i te reo 
Increasing the number 
of whānau Māori and 
other New Zealanders 
who can speak Māori 

The number of people 
engaged in Māori language 
courses (split per 
elementary, intermediate 
and advanced proficiency) 

Refer to table 7 (below) for the number of 
people enrolled in courses that we funded 
from Mā te Reo round 13. 
 

 The number of Māori 
language speakers 

The 2013 Census gives a total figure of 
148,395 speakers of te reo Māori (157,113 
2006 Census); 125,352 of whom are 
Māori (131,610 2006 Census).10 
 
The post Census survey Te Kūpenga 
estimates that 257,500 Māori are able to 
speak some te reo Māori.  

Te mārama pū ki te 
whakaora reo  

The number of people 
accessing the e-library at 

Four papers were loaded to the Te Taura 
Whiri website and other discussion and 

10  There is no change to these figures since the 2013/14 report as the Census and Te Kūpenga are 
only run every five years.  
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MLS 2014 key result 
areas 

Measures for key result 
areas 2014/15 Results 

Increasing critical 
awareness about Māori 
language revitalisation  

He Puna Whakarauora to 
gather information about 
Māori language 
revitalisation 

research papers are being collated 
preparatory for loading.  
 
The new corporate website, which went 
live in early July 2015, will monitor the 
access of information drawn by 
stakeholders from our website. 

Te kounga o te reo 
Supporting the quality 
and appropriate use of 
the Māori language, and 
iwi dialect maintenance 

The range of resources 
(including dictionaries, 
words lists and glossaries) 
which are available to 
learners and speakers of 
the Māori language 

Refer to table 8 (below) for the number of 
resources distributed as the result of 
projects funding by Mā te Reo, Round 13 

Te kōrerotanga o te 
reo 
Increasing the use of 
the Māori language 
among whānau Māori 
and other New 
Zealanders, especially 
in the home 

Percentage of households 
where Māori language is 
spoken 
 

The 2013 Census gives a total of 27.5% of 
Māori households having a resident adult 
speaker of te reo Māori (236,364 
households, 64,923 having at least one 
speaker of Māori aged over 15 years). 
 
This compares with 31.4% in the 2006 
Census (211,020 households, of which 
66,162 had at least one speaker of Māori 
aged over 15 years).11 
 
He Kāinga Kōrerorero programme – 150 
whānau engaged and supported to 
increase Māori language use in home 
 
Te Kura Whānau Reo programme – 75 
whānau engaged and supported to 
increase Māori language use in home 

Table 7: Language courses funded by Mā te Reo, Round 13 

Type of course Total 
participants Low fluency Medium 

fluency High fluency 

Wānanga Reo 1,868 929 636 303 
Kura Reo Whakapakari Reo 647 145 301 201 
Kura Reo ā-Iwi 526 194 205 127 
TOTAL  3,041 1,268 1,142 631 

Table 8: Number of resources (dictionaries, glossaries, phrase lists etc) distributed through projects 
funded by Mā te Reo, Round 13 

Total distributed Low fluency Medium fluency High fluency 
2,500 500 1,000 1,000 

11  There has been no change in this figure since the 2013/14 Annual Report. Source: Statistics New 
Zealand, customised report, licensed by Statistics NZ for re-use under the Creative Commons 
Attribution 3.0 New Zealand licence. Note that the figures given in the 2012/13 Annual Report were 
not able to be replicated and a new report from Statistics NZ was created. 
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Organisational health and capability 

Our staff are central to the achievement of our vision and mission. We employ a range of 
programmes to ensure we continuously enhance our capability and that employees are 
offered challenging and satisfying work.  

Table 9 shows our staff profile as at the end of the financial year. 

Table 9: Staff profile as at 30 June 
 2014 2015 
Total staff  19 23 

Permanent staff 18 21 

Fixed term staff 1 2 

Vacancies (in recruitment or filled by contractors) 4 3 

Men 4 5 

Women 15 18 

Although we do not formally collect data on ethnicity and disability, informal advice is that, of 
the 23 total employees, one has a disability, three staff are non-Māori and 20 staff are of 
Māori descent. 

Compliance with the “Good Employer” elements 

The three categories reflect the seven elements of ‘The Good Employer’ set out in section 
118 of the Crown Entities Act 2004 

Leadership, accountability and culture 

All staff have input to business planning. Each team held at least one planning workshop 
over the year to create their team’s business plan. Staff hui were held at least monthly to 
update everyone on current business activities and to encourage discussion about issues of 
concern. 

The human resources policies were all reviewed and updated during 2014/15. Staff 
consultation was an integral part of this process, with several consultation meetings held. 

Recruitment, selection and induction 

Our attraction and retention initiatives focus on employees with good levels of Māori 
language proficiency and specialist technical and support roles. Nearly 70% of staff (16) 
have passed level 3 (moderate proficiency) of the Level Finder Examinations (LFE). 

Streamlined, simplified recruitment processes to facilitate the selection and induction of 
capable, skilled employees. 

Selection of new staff is undertaken using panel interviews and behavioural questions. 
Panels include both management and staff representation. All staff receive written offers and 
employment agreements prior to starting work and induction in the first few weeks of 
appointment. 
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Over the 2014/15 year we created two new positions and recruited eight new staff (2013/14 
– 6; 2012/13 – 3). 

Employee development, promotion and exit 

All staff were involved in a series of team building workshops over late 2014. The workshops 
used individual profiles of working behaviour to help staff identify their preferred ways of 
working and select best practices for interacting with each other and with customers. 

All staff create professional development plans with their manager as part of setting their 
objectives for the year. Staff recorded over 320 hours’ professional development in 2014/15, 
at a cost of $46,000 (2.4% of the salary budget). 

Six staff resigned during the year (2013/14 – 4; 2012/13 – 1) and there were no 
redundancies. 

Flexibility and work design 

All staff have remote access to our organisational systems and files servers and are able to 
work from home or other bases as required, subject to agreement with their manager. We 
have specific policies on flexible working arrangements and working from home, which are 
designed to support work-life balance. The policies commit Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
management to give serious consideration to all requests for arrangements that differ from a 
standard office-based, 37.5 hour working week. 

Family members of staff, including children, are welcome at the offices and arrangements 
have been made with staff caring for young children to be able to bring them to the office as 
required. 

Remuneration, recognition and conditions 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori uses a mixture of collective and individual employment 
agreements. The collective, which covers 13 staff, was renegotiated in early 2015 and 
covers the period from December 2014 to December 2017. The collective agreement makes 
provision for all staff whose performance appraisal meets organisational expectations to 
receive a salary increase. There is also a bonus system for staff whose performance 
exceeds expectations. 

Staff who are members of the collective agreement and who achieve level 3 or higher in the 
LFE receive an annual allowance based on their level of proficiency. 

A Remuneration Forum, comprising representatives from management and the Public 
Service Association meets at least annually to review data on remuneration trends and 
salary midpoints and make recommendations to the Senior Management Team.  

Harassment and bullying prevention 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori does not tolerate bullying or harassment. Information on what 
constitutes bullying was provided to all staff as part of the 2014/15 update of our human 
resources policies and procedures. Work Safe New Zealand’s publication, Preventing and 
responding to workplace bullying was also circulated. 

All staff have access to an employee assistance programme, and a counsellor makes 
weekly office visits. 
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A safe and healthy workforce 

A safe work environment reduces the impact of injury and illness on individuals and on the 
overall capability and capacity of Te Taura i te Reo Māori. We have an operative health and 
safety committee, trained floor wardens, regular fire and emergency drills and seven staff 
(30%) have current first aid certification. 

During 2014/15, we reviewed our earthquake and other civil emergency preparedness. We 
updated supplies in our monitored civil defence cabinet, reviewed the contents of all 
emergency grab bags (supplied to all staff and containing food, water and other critical 
supplies) and ensured that 10 litre water bottles are supplied for each workstation and 
regularly refreshed. 

• 142 total employee sick days taken (2013/14 – 130; 2012/13 – 202) 

• 14 employees have first aid certification (2013/14 – 14; 2012/13 – 14) 

• 3 employees are trained as floor wardens (2013/14 – 3; 2012/13 – 3) 

• 2 employees are on the health and safety committee (2013/14 – 2; 2012/13 – 2) 
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PART TWO: OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 

Nature and scope of our functions 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori was established by section 6 of the Māori Language Act 1987 
(“1987 Act”) to give effect to te reo Māori as an official language of Aotearoa New Zealand. 
We have broad functions to promote the Māori language as a living language and an 
ordinary means of communication.  

We provide independent advice to the Minister for Māori Development12 about issues 
affecting the Māori language. Our independence enables us to work comfortably between 
language stakeholders and the government to ensure government priorities and resources 
are aligned with stakeholder aspirations.  

We undertake the following specific duties: 

• administering funds which provide financial support to community-led Māori language 
revitalisation initiatives13 

• establishing a research unit to support the development of a national Māori Language 
research agenda 

• training and certifying Māori language translators and interpreters 

• testing the proficiency level of Māori language speakers through level finding 
examinations 

• ensuring that the linguistic and cultural integrity of the Māori language is preserved by 
maintaining robust quality standards and technical language support provided to 
stakeholders 

• supporting key national Māori language events – Te Wiki i te Reo Māori and Ngā Tohu 
Reo Māori – and promoting the use and acquisition of te reo Māori and issues 
associated with the language.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori works to support the development of a high-quality Māori 
language workforce that is valued by employers in both the public and private sectors. We 
also have a significant role to play in ensuring localised iwi, hapū and whānau language 
priorities are fully promoted and supported through our community funding programmes.  

We are unique in our national role and singular focus and, as such, we provide a critical 
point of reference and support for Māori language revitalisation and regeneration efforts in 
New Zealand.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is an autonomous Crown entity. As such, we are bound by the 
provisions of legislation such as the Crown Entities Act, Public Finance Act and State Sector 
Act, and are required to report to Parliament through our Annual Report. We receive funding 
through Vote: Māori Affairs and our monitoring agency is Te Puni Kōkiri. 

12  Prior to the swearing in of the 2014 National government, this position was the Minister of Māori 
Affairs. 

13  Mā te Reo, He Kāinga Kōrerorero, Te Kura Whānau Reo and Community Based Language 
Initiatives (CBLI).  
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We are responsible to the Minister for Māori Development for the expenditure of public funds 
to support our mission statement and outcomes. Each year, the Minister issues a Letter of 
Expectations outlining the specific objectives he would like us to focus on during the 
following financial year. 

Māori Language Strategy 2014 

In May 2014, Cabinet approved a new Māori Language Strategy (MLS), replacing the former 
strategy dating from 2003. The MLS 2014 is the result of a programme of reviews and 
consultation beginning in 2010.  

The new strategy asserts that the Māori language is a taonga of iwi and Māori people, 
guaranteed by the Treaty of Waitangi, and that iwi and Māori are kaitiaki of the language. 
The new strategy seeks to strengthen the leadership roles of iwi and Māori in the 
revitalisation of te reo and build stronger Crown-iwi relationships in the Māori language 
sector, as well as enabling the Crown to meet ongoing obligations to support the language 
and manage enduring public accountability. 

The MLS 2014 has five key result areas replacing the previous five goals of strengthening 
language skills, language use, education opportunities in the Māori language, community 
leadership and recognition of te reo. The new key result areas are: 

• Te mana o te reo – increasing the status of the Māori language in New Zealand 
society 

• Te ako i te reo – increasing the number of whānau Māori and other New Zealanders 
who can speak Māori  

• Te mārama pū ki te whakaora reo – increasing critical awareness about Māori 
language revitalisation  

• Te kounga o te reo – supporting the quality and appropriate use of the Māori language, 
and iwi dialect maintenance  

• Te kōrerotanga o te reo – increasing the use of the Māori language among whānau 
Māori and other New Zealanders, especially in the home. 

We have aligned our Statement of Intent for 2014–18 to these five key result areas. 

One of the outcomes of the strategy includes proposed changes to the status and 
governance arrangements for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori, Te Māngai Pāho and the Māori 
Television Service. These are to be given effect through the Māori Language (Te Reo Māori) 
Bill 2014, which received its first reading in Parliament in July 2014. 

Māori language sector  

A Māori language that is living and an ordinary means of communication is an inter-
generational societal aspiration that cannot be achieved by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori in 
isolation. There are many other stakeholders involved, who are our partners in this work, 
including:  

• iwi organisations, individual iwi, hapū and whānau  

• ministries (for example, Te Puni Kōkiri, Ministry of Education)  

• Crown and statutory entities (such as Te Māngai Pāho, Māori Television Service)  
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• community and charitable organisations (for example Kōhanga Reo)  

• Māori language education service providers. 

Together we make up the Māori language sector.  

Governance  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is governed by a board of Commissioners, consisting of five 
members appointed by the Minister for Māori Development.  

As at 30 June 2015 board members were:14 

Dr Wayne Ngata (Chairperson) 

Te Awanuiārangi Black  

Dr Hinurewa Poutu  

Charisma Rangipunga  

Dr Rawinia Higgins  

Ruka Broughton 

The key responsibilities of the board include: 

• confirming the strategic direction of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori, setting strategies 
and priorities 

• communicating with the Minister and other stakeholders to ensure their views are 
reflected in the organisation’s strategies and priorities 

• appointing the Chief Executive and delegating responsibility for achieving specific 
priorities 

• monitoring organisational performance  

• maintaining effective systems of internal control 

• being accountable to the Minister for delivering agreed plans and services, and 
achieving priorities. 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori Commissioners are appointed because of their extensive 
experience within the Māori language sector, and proven knowledge of issues affecting the 
Māori language on a local and regional basis. Commissioners are representatives of a 
community, regional or tribal voice, ensuring local and community-based thinking is taken 
into consideration when considering issues that affect the Māori language. 

14  Dr Ngata, Dr Higgins and Ms Rangipunga were appointed before the end of the 2014/15 financial 
year but attended their first meeting in July 2015. 
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Proposed changes in our structure and role 

The Māori Language Bill, which is designed to enact the structural parts of the Māori 
Language Strategy 2014, was introduced to Parliament at the beginning of July 2015 and 
had its first reading shortly afterwards. 

The Bill proposes changes to the structure and governance of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
– specifically that a new entity, Te Mātāwai, be established that would oversee our 
operations and make appointments to our Board, and that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
would cease to be a Crown Entity. 

The Bill was referred to the Māori Affairs Select Committee and a separate group15 also set 
up to advise the Minister for Māori Development on the Bill and its proposals. MLAG has 
reported to the Minister and the Select Committee is expected to submit its final report in 
December 2015. 

In October 2015, Cabinet agreed that: 

• the Bill provide for the development of two distinct, but related, Māori Language 
Strategies: 
o the Maihi Karauna (Crown) Strategy – to be developed by Te Puni Kōkiri and 

approved by the Minister, and focus on language planning and policy at the 
government and national (or macro) level 

o the Maihi Māori (Māori) Strategy – to be developed by Te Mātāwai and approved 
in a manner to be determined by Te Mātāwai, and focus on language planning 
and policy at the iwi and community (or micro) level 

• community funding programmes currently administered by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori be transferred to Te Mātāwai when the Minister is confident that Te Mātāwai is 
able to undertake a fund administration role: 
o Mā te Reo ($2.500 million per annum) 
o Community-Based Language Initiatives ($2.317 million per annum) 
o He Kāinga Kōrerorero ($1.500 million per annum) 

• the timing of the transfer to be in consultation with the Minister of Finance provided it is 
within 18 months following the enactment of the Bill 

• $1 million of the $2 million appropriated for Māori language research be transferred 
from Te Taura Whiri to Te Mātāwai beginning 2016/17. 

The Bill is expected to be enacted in 2016. 

Directions from the Minister  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori did not receive any formal directions from the Minister for 
Māori Development in 2014/15.  

15  Māori Language Advisory Group (MLAG). 
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Acts in breach of statute 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori cannot act in a way that is contrary to, or outside the authority 
of, an Act of Parliament. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has not performed any ultra vires 
transactions (section 19 of the Crown Entities Act 2004). 

Permission to act 

Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, a member who is interested in a matter relating to a 
Crown entity must not vote or take part in any discussion or decision of the board or any 
committee relating to that matter. However, the Chair of a Crown entity may exempt one or 
more board members from this requirement if it is in the public interest to do so (section 
68(6) of the Crown Entities Act 2004). No exemptions were granted in 2014/15. 
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PART THREE – STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE  

Vote: Māori Development and output class 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is funded from Vote: Māori Development under the following 
two appropriations: 

 Promotion of the Māori Language – for initiatives to revitalise and develop the Māori 1.
language in New Zealand, including the promotion of the Māori language  

 Māori Language Research – for research and development projects that support the 2.
revitalisation of the Māori language. 

The funding is intended to contribute to the achievement of the following impacts for Vote: 
Māori Development:16 

• Māori are protecting, sustaining and growing their reo, taonga, mātauranga and 
tikanga  

• Māori are sustainably growing and developing their resources  

• Māori are acquiring skills and knowledge.  

The output class Māori Language Research has been granted an exemption17 from end of 
year performance reporting under section 15D(2)(b)(iii) of the Public Finance Act 1989 as the 
amount of the appropriation is less than $5 million. Accordingly, this output class is 
integrated with the other activities and services performed by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 

Within our output class, we have four output areas: research and policy, language 
development, community funding and stakeholder engagement. 

Total funding received is shown on Table 10. 

Table 10: 2014/15 actual and budgeted income by source  
 2014/15 

actual 
2014/15 
budget Variance 

 $ $ $ 
Appropriation: Promotion of the Māori language 9,501,000 9,501,000 – 
Appropriation: Māori Language research 2,000,000 2,000,000 – 
Total revenue – Crown 11,501,000 11,501,000 – 
Other revenue 511,960 245,000 266,960 
Total revenue 12,012,960 11,746,000 266,960 

Table 11 shows the budgeted and actual income and expenditure for 2014/15 by the original 
four outputs from the Statement of Intent 2014–18. 

16  Vote: Māori Affairs, The Estimates of Appropriations 2014/15 - Māori, other populations and 
cultural sector, B.5, Vol 8, page 158. 

17  Vote: Māori Affairs, The Estimates of Appropriations 2014/15 - Māori, other populations and 
cultural sector, B.5, Vol 8, page 166. 
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Table 11: 2014/15 Budgeted and actual income and expenditure by activity 

 2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 

 
Actual total 

income 
Budget total 

income 
Actual total 
expenses 

Budget total 
expenses 

Policy and research  $ 2,819,679   $ 2,804,813   $ 2,199,074   $ 3,970,695  
Language development  $ 894,950   $ 877,978   $ 1,092,707   $ 959,889  
Community funding  $ 7,462,261   $ 7,284,725   $ 6,214,675   $ 7,795,901  
Stakeholder engagement  $ 836,070   $ 778,484   $ 939,545   $ 978,334  
Total income/expenditure   $ 12,012,960   $ 11,746,000   $ 10,446,001   $ 13,704,819  

Note 18 at the end of this report explains the significant variances between budgeted and 
actual income and expenditure for the year.  
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Independent Auditor’s report 
 

 

To the readers of the 

financial statements and non-financial performance information 

of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 

for the year ended 30 June 2015 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori (the Māori Language 
Commission). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Phil Kennerley, using the staff and 
resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the 
performance information, including the performance information of an appropriation, of Te 
Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori on her behalf. 

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori on pages 50 to 73, that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements 
that include accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori on pages 7 to 35 and 44 
to 45. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori: 
o present fairly, in all material respects: 

 its financial position as at 30 June 2015; 
 its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and have 
been prepared in accordance with the Public Benefit Entity Standards. 

• the performance information: 
o presents fairly, in all material respects, the performance of Te Taura Whiri i te 

Reo Māori for the year ended 30 June 2015, including for each class of 
reportable outputs: 
 its standards of performance achieved as compared with forecasts 

included in the statement of performance expectations for the financial 
year, 

 its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the forecasts 
included in the statement of performance expectations for the financial 
year;  
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 what has been achieved with the appropriations; 
 the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the 

appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure; and 
o complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

Our audit was completed on 25 November 2015. This is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Board and our responsibilities, and explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance 
information are free from material misstatement.  

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements 
and the performance information. If we had found material misstatements that were not 
corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements and the performance information, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
preparation of financial statements and performance information for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control within Te 
Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 

An audit also involves evaluating: 

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been 
consistently applied; 

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by 
the Board; 

• the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the framework for 
reporting performance; 

• the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and the performance 
information; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements and the performance information. 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements and the performance information. Also, we did not evaluate the security 
and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the performance 
information. 
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We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board 

The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and performance information 
that: 

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;  

• present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori; and 

• present fairly the performance of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements and performance information that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board is also responsible for the 
publication of the financial statements and the performance information, whether in printed or 
electronic form. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
the performance information and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our 
responsibility arises from the Public Audit Act 2001. 

Independence 

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External 
Reporting Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or interests in, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori. 

 

 

Phil Kennerley 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand  
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Statement of responsibility 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and statement of 
performance of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori and the judgments made in them. 

We are responsible for end of year performance information provided by Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori under Section 19A of the Public finance Act, 1989. 

The Board of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has the responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the 
integrity and reliability of the financial reporting. 

In the Board’s opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect 
the financial position and operations of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori for the year ended 30 
June 2015. 

 

Wayne Ngata 
Chairman 
Board of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori  
25 November 2015 

 

 
Te Awanuiārangi Black 
Commissioner 
Board of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori  
25 November 2015 
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Financial statements 

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 
 

2013/14     2014/15 2014/15 
actual   Notes actual budget 

$     $ $ 
  REVENUE 

 
    

  Operating revenue from Crown 
 

    
 3,204,000  Operating appropriation 

 
3,204,000 3,204,000 

 250,000  Mā Te Reo Fund - monitoring and evaluation  
 

250,000 250,000 
 2,000,000  Research and development 

 
2,000,000 2,000,000 

 961,293  Community-Based Language Initiatives 
 

1,460,960 1,460,960 
 6,415,293  Total operating revenue from Crown 

 
6,914,960 6,914,960 

    
 

    
  Grants revenue from Crown 

 
    

 2,250,000  Mā Te Reo Fund 
 

2,250,000 2,250,000 
 1,500,000  He Kāinga Kōrerorero 

 
1,500,000 1,500,000 

 684,707  CBLI - Te Kura Whānau Reo 
 

836,040 836,040 
 4,434,707  Total grant revenue from Crown 

 
4,586,040 4,586,040 

    
 

    
  Finance revenue 

 
    

 285,031  Interest income 
 

344,907 125,000 
 128,949  Other revenue 2 167,053 120,000 
 413,980  Total finance revenue 

 
511,960 245,000 

    
 

    
11,263,980 Total revenue 

 
12,012,960 11,746,000 

    
 

    
  EXPENDITURE 

 
    

  Operating expenses 
 

    
1,649,575 Personnel costs 3 2,164,452 2,260,379 

84,572 Depreciation and amortisation expense 
 

55,697 113,340 
2,501,265 TTWh operating expenses 4 3,207,147 6,695,060 
4,235,412 Total operation expenses 

 
5,427,296 9,068,779 

    
 

    
936,174 Mā te Reo fund (net)18 17 2,682,665 2,300,000 

1,500,000 He Kāinga Kōrerorero 17 1,500,000 1,500,000 
684,707 CBLI-Te Kura Whānau Reo 17 836,040 836,040 

3,120,881 Total contract expenses (net) 
 

5,018,705 4,636,040 
    

 
    

7,356,293 Total expenses 
 

10,446,001 13,704,819 
    

 
    

2,430,214 Operating surplus/(deficit) 
 

1,840,214 (1,908,819) 

18 This amount is the total contract expenditure per note 17 less the prior year grants returned per 
note 17. 
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2013/14     2014/15 2014/15 
actual   Notes actual budget 

$     $ $ 
1,477,473 Contracts surplus/(deficit)  

 
(273,255) (50,000) 

3,907,687 Operating surplus/(deficit) and total comprehensive 
 d   

1,566,959 (1,958,819) 
 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral 
part of these financial statements. Explanations of major variances against budget are 
provided in note 18. 
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Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2015 
 

2013/14   Note 2014/15 2014/15 
actual   

 
actual budget 

$   
 

$ $ 
  Assets 

 
    

  Current assets 
 

    
4,396,511 Cash and cash equivalents 5 6,127,816 5,152,800 

224,629 Receivables 6 33,467 75,000 
4,023,469 Mā te Reo Agency fund investment account 

 
4,180,214 4,769,800 

–  GST receivable 
 

201,681 –  
4,288 Prepayments 

 
2,182 –  

8,648,897 Total current assets 
 

10,545,360 9,997,600 
    

 
    

  Non-current assets 
 

    
580,000 Mā te Reo agency fund  7 150,000 100,000 
103,513 Property, plant and equipment 8 75,420 129,930 

29,669 Intangible assets 9 24,469 497,891 
 – WIP-GMS 9 31,350 –  

713,182 Total non-current assets 
 

281,239 727,821 
    

 
    

9,362,079 Total assets 
 

10,826,599 10,725,421 
    

 
    

  Liabilities 
 

    
  Current liabilities 

 
    

564,354 Payables 10 947,679 3,484,663 
439,693 GST payable 

 
– – 

198,085 Employee entitlements 11 159,191 240,000 
1,202,132 Total current liabilities 

 
1,106,870 3,724,663 

    
 

    
  Non-current liabilities 

 
    

4,603,469 Mā te Reo agency fund  
 

4,330,214 4,869,799 
11,574 Employee entitlements 11 4,397 12,000 

4,615,043 Total non-current liabilities 
 

4,334,611 4,881,799 
    

 
    

5,817,175 Total liabilities 
 

5,441,481 8,606,462 
    

 
    

3,544,904 Net assets 
 

5,385,118 2,118,959 
    

 
    

  Equity 
 

    
1,943,322 General funds 

 
3,299,979 4,077,778 

1,601,582 Research and Development Reserve  
 

2,085,139 (1,958,819) 
3,544,904 Total equity 

 
5,385,118 2,118,959 

 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral 
part of these financial statements. Explanations of major variances against budget are 
provided in note 18.   
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Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 
 

2013/14   Note 2014/15 2014/15 
actual     actual budget 

$     $ $ 
1,114,693  General funds   1,943,322  1,943,322  

–  Research and development reserve   1,601,585   1,601,585  
1,114,693  Total Crown equity at 1 July   3,544,907  3,544,907  

          
828,629  Surplus/(deficit) from operations   1,356,657  (307,234) 

1,601,585  Surplus/(deficit) on research and development   483,557  (1,601,585) 
2,430,214  Total operating surplus/(deficit)   1,840,214  (1,908,819) 

          
1,477,473  Contracts surplus/(deficit)   (273,255) (50,000) 
3,907,687  Total surplus/(deficit) for year   1,566,959  (1,958,819) 

          
(1,477,473) Transfer: Mā te Reo fund liability   273,255   50,000  

2,430,214  Total operating surplus/(deficit)   1,840,214  (1,908,819) 
          

1,943,322  General funds   3,299,979   1,636,088  
1,601,585  Research and development reserve   2,085,139  –  
3,544,907  Total Crown equity at 30 June   5,385,118  1,636,088  

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral 
part of these financial statements. Explanations of major variances against budget are 
provided in note 18. 
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Cash flow statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 
 

2013/14   Note 2014/15 2014/15 
actual     actual budget 

$     $ $ 
  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  Cash was provided from (applied to)       

10,850,000  Receipts from Crown revenue   11,501,000 11,501,000 
285,031  Interest received   344,907 125,000 
(20,473) Receipt from other revenue   358,215 142,934 

(5,415,951) Payments to suppliers    (7,848,422) (8,678,431) 
(1,666,247) Payments to employees   (2,202,524) (2,235,379) 

413,533  Payment of GST   (641,374) 518,665 
4,445,893  Net cash flow from operating activities   1,511,802 1,373,789 

          
  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
  Cash was provided from (applied to)       

3,614  Sale of property, plant and equipment   – – 
(40,633) Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (14,711) (617,500) 

(1,429) Purchase of intangible assets   (39,041) – 
(38,448) Net cash flows from investing activities   (53,752) (617,500) 

          
  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
  Cash was provided from (applied to)       

– Capital contributions   – – 
(1,477,473) Mā Te Reo investment fund   273,255 – 
(1,477,473) Net cash flows from financing activities   273,255 – 

2,929,972  Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,731,305 756,289 
1,466,539  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,396,511 4,396,511 
4,396,511  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   6,127,816 5,152,800 
4,396,511  Represented by: Cash & cash equivalents 5 6,127,816 5,152,800 

 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral 
part of these financial statements. Explanations of major variances against budget are 
provided in note 18. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. Statement of accounting policies 

1.1 Reporting entity  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori – the Māori Language Commission is a Crown entity as 
defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The 
relevant legislation governing the operation of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori includes the 
Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Māori Language Act 1987. The ultimate parent of Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori is the New Zealand Crown. 

Our primary objective is to provide services to the New Zealand public. We do not operate to 
make a financial return.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for 
financial reporting purposes.  

The financial statements for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori are for the year ended 30 June 
2015, and were approved by the Board on 29 October 2015.  

1.2 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting 
policies have been applied consistently throughout the period. 

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to 
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP).  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 2 PBE accounting 
standards. We are eligible to apply Tier 2 accounting standards as our expenses are less 
than $30 million.  

These financial statements comply with PBE accounting standards. 

These financial statements are the first financial statements presented in accordance with 
the new PBE accounting standards. The material adjustments arising on transition to the 
new PBE accounting standards are explained in note 20. 

Presentation currency and rounding  

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars.  

1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

a) Revenue 

The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items are explained below: 
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Funding from the Crown 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is primarily funded from the Crown. This funding is restricted in 
its use for the purpose of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori meeting the objectives specified in 
its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant appropriations of the funder.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori considers there are no conditions attached to the funding and 
it is recognised as revenue at the point of entitlement.  

The fair value of revenue from the Crown has been determined to be equivalent to the 
amounts due in the funding arrangements.  

Sponsorship revenue 

Sponsorship revenue received relates to sponsorship for Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori and Ngā 
Tohu Reo Māori and is classed as exchange revenue. 

Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.  

Provision of services 

Services provided to third parties on commercial terms are exchange transactions. Revenue 
from these services is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at balance date.  

b) Grant expenditure  

Non-discretionary grants are those grants awarded if the grant application meets the 
specified criteria and are recognised as expenditure when an application that meets the 
specified criteria for the grant has been received.  

Discretionary grants are those grants where we have no obligation to award on receipt of the 
grant application and are recognised as expenditure when approved by the Grants Approval 
Committee and the approval has been communicated to the applicant. Our grants awarded 
have no substantive conditions attached. 

c) Leases  

Operating leases  

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee.  

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.  

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental 
expense over the lease term. 

d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.  
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e) Receivables 

Short-term receivables are recorded at their face value, less any provision for impairment. 

A receivable is considered impaired when there is evidence that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori will not be able to collect the amount due. The amount of the impairment is the 
difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of the 
amounts expected to be collected.  

f) Investments 

Bank term deposits  

Investments in bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. 

After initial recognition, investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment.  

Community funding 

Financial assets held by the fund are classified into the following specified categories: 
financial assets ‘at nominal value’, and ‘cash and cash equivalents’. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. 

Financial assets are classified as at nominal value. Financial assets at nominal value are 
stated with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss of the fund upon disposal of 
the asset. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks both 
domestic and international, and other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original 
maturities of three months or less. 

Equity investments  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori designates equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive revenue and expense, which are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs.  

After initial recognition, these investments are measured at their fair value with gains and 
losses recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense, except for impairment 
losses that are recognised in the surplus or deficit.  

On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense is reclassified to the surplus or deficit.  

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is 
considered objective evidence of impairment. If impairment evidence exists, the cumulative 
loss recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified from equity to 
the surplus or deficit.  

Impairment losses recognised in the surplus or deficit are not reversed through the surplus 
or deficit. 
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g) Property, plant, and equipment 

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following asset classes: leasehold 
improvements, furniture and fittings, IT and office equipment.  

All asset classes are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  

Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will 
flow to Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.  

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. 
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition.  

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit. 
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect of 
those assets are transferred to general funds. 

Subsequent costs 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit as they are incurred.  

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and equipment other 
than land, at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated 
residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of 
major classes of property, plant, and equipment have been estimated as follows:  

Leasehold improvements   20.0% straight line (SL)  
Furniture and fittings    20.0% SL  
Office equipment   20.0% SL 
IT Equipment    25.0% SL 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.  

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year end.  
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h) Intangible assets 

Software acquisition and development 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software.  

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include software development, employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.  

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.  

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.  

Costs associated with development and maintenance of our website are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.  

Amortisation 

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the 
date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each financial year is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit.  

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have 
been estimated as follows:  

Acquired computer software    25.0% SL  

i) Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are 
considered cash-generating where their primary objective is to generate a commercial 
return.  

Non-cash-generating assets 

Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The 
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. 

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement 
cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate 
approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature of the impairment and 
availability of information.  

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded 
as impaired and the carrying amount is written-down to the recoverable amount. The total 
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.  
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The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.  

j) Payables  

Short-term payables are recorded at their face value. 

k) Employee entitlements 

Short-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employee renders the related service are measured based on accrued 
entitlements at current rates of pay.  

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to but 
not yet taken at balance date, and sick leave.  

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming year are 
expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The 
amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward 
at balance date, to the extent that it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.  

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a contractual obligation 
or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the obligation can be made. 

Long-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of period in 
which the employee renders the related service, such as long service leave and retirement 
gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations are based on:  

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to 
entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual 
entitlement information; and  

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  

Presentation of employee entitlements 

Sick leave, annual leave, and vested long service leave are classified as a current liability. 
Non-vested long service leave and retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 
months of balance date are classified as a current liability. All other employee entitlements 
are classified as a non-current liability.  

l) Superannuation schemes 

Defined contribution schemes 

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme 
are accounted for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are recognised as 
an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred. 
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m) Equity  

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is 
disaggregated and classified into the following components.  

• contributed capital  

• accumulated surplus/(deficit) and 

• fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense reserves. 

n) Goods and services tax 

All items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of GST, except for receivables 
and payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable 
as input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.  

The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and 
financing activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.  

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.  

o) Income tax  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the 
payment of income tax. Accordingly, no provision has been made for income tax.  

p) Budget figures 

The budget figures are derived from the statement of performance expectations as approved 
by the Board at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared 
in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by the Board in preparing these financial statements. 

q) Cost allocation  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation 
system outlined below.  

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs 
that cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output.  

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on 
cost drivers and related activity or usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of 
asset utilisation.  

There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the date of the last 
audited financial statements.  

1.4 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

In preparing these financial statements, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has made estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future.  
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These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 

Estimating useful lives and residual values of property, plant, and equipment  

At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values of property, plant, and equipment 
are reviewed. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of 
property, plant, and equipment requires a number of factors to be considered such as the 
physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori, and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.  

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will affect the depreciation expense 
recognised in the surplus or deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the statement of 
financial position. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori minimises the risk of this estimation 
uncertainty by:  

• physical inspection of assets;  

• asset replacement programs;  

• review of second hand market prices for similar assets; and  

• analysis of prior asset sales.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has not made significant changes to past assumptions 
concerning useful lives and residual values.  

Retirement and long service leave 

Note 11 provides an analysis of the exposure in relation to estimates and uncertainties 
surrounding retirement and long service leave liabilities.  

1.5 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

Management has exercised the following critical judgements in applying accounting policies: 

Leases classification  

Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance lease or an operating lease requires 
judgement as to whether the agreement transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori.  

Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of 
the leased asset, the economic life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal 
options in the lease term, and determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the 
asset is recognised in the statement of financial position as property, plant, and equipment, 
whereas for an operating lease no such asset is recognised.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has exercised its judgement on the appropriate classification 
of equipment leases, and has determined that lease arrangements are operating leases.  
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2. Other revenue 
 

2013/14   2014/15 2014/15 
 actual    actual budget 

$   $ $ 
128,949 Other revenue  3,335   120,000  

–  Sponsorship received   144,051  –  
–  Sales - other  19,667  –  

 128,949  Total other revenue  167,053   120,000  

3. Personnel costs 
 

2013/14   2014/15 2014/15 
 actual    actual budget 

$   $ $ 
1,509,545 Salaries and wages  1,957,660   2,167,511 

118,351 Other remuneration  197,076   134,010 
38,351 Defined contribution plan employer contributions  53,840   35,951 

(16,672) Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (44,123) (77,093) 
1,649,575 Total personnel costs  2,164,452  2,260,379 

Employer contributions to defined contributions plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and 
the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme. 

4. Other expenses 
 

2013/14   2014/15 2014/15 
 actual    actual budget 

$   $ $ 
 29,550  Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements  29,507   31,500  

 195,228  Staff travel  242,270   77,695  
 13,140  Advertising  40,276   16,200  

 3,950  Consultancy  333,321   292,652  
 770,800  Administration  449,457   434,063  

 1,164,117  Contractors  1,805,267   5,548,516  
 4,787  General expenses  20,855   7,206  
 2,960  Motor vehicle expenses  -   -  

 56,109  Printing costs  31,307   41,200  
 260,622  Rent  254,886   246,028  

 2,501,263  Total other expenses  3,207,147   6,695,060  
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$   $ 
 72,203  Cash at bank and on hand  32,036  

 4,324,308  Cash equivalents - call account  6,095,780  
 4,396,511  Total cash and cash equivalents  6,127,816  

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less 
approximates their fair value. 

Te Taura Whiri i te Re Māori holds unspent funding received, included in cash at bank, of 
$1.602 million (2013/14) and $2.085 million (2014/15) that is subject to restrictions. The 
restrictions generally specify how the grant is required to be spent in providing specified 
deliverables of the grant arrangement. 

6. Receivables 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$ 
 

$ 
 224,629  Receivables (gross)  33,467  
 224,629  Total receivables  33,467  

  Total receivables comprises:   

 201,629  
Receivables from the sale of goods and services 
(exchange transactions)  4,717  

 23,000  Receivables from grants (non-exchange transactions)  28,750  

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2015, all 
overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied.  

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is not exposed to any concentrations of credit risk other than 
from the Crown. 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$  $ 

 
Debtors and other receivables 

  222,484  Not past due  28,750  
 –  Past due 1-30 days  –  

 129  Past due 31-60 days  –  
 –  Past due 61-90 days  –  

 2,016  Past due > 91 days  4,717  
 224,629  Balance at 30 June 33,467 
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7. Investment 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$   $ 
  Non-current portion   

 580,000  Term deposits  150,000  
 580,000  Total non-current portion  150,000  
 580,000  Total investments  150,000  

There is no impairment provision for investments. 

Equity investments are measured at fair value determined by reference to published bid 
price quotations in an active market. 

8. Property, plant and equipment 

Movements for each class of property, plant, and equipment are as follows: 
 

 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture & 
Fittings 

IT 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost of valuation           
Balance at 1 July 2013  367,187   199,334   299,540   12,076   878,137  
Additions –   4,284   36,349  –   40,633  
Disposals  –   – (6,485)  –  (6,485) 
            
Balance at 1 July 2014  367,187   203,618   329,405   12,076   912,286  
Additions –   3,801   18,228   303   22,332  
Disposals  –  (6,559) (64,504) (731) (71,794) 
Balance at 30 June 2015  367,187   200,860   283,129   11,648   862,824  
            
Accumulated depreciation           
Balance at 1 July 2013  340,640   170,269   218,243   10,657   739,809  
Depreciation expense  15,284   19,338   36,504   709   71,835  
Elimination on disposal –  – (2,871) – (2,871) 
            
Balance at 1 July 2014  355,924   189,607   251,876   11,366   808,773  
Depreciation expense  4,416  5,611  32,278  501   42,806  
Elimination on disposal –  (5,578) (58,165) (431) (64,174) 
Balance at 30 June 2015  360,340   189,640   225,989   11,436   787,405  
            
Carrying amounts           
            
At 30 June 2013  26,547   29,065   81,297   1,419   138,328  
At 30 June and 1 July 2014  11,263   14,011   77,529   710   103,513  
At 30 June 2015  6,847   11,220   57,140   213   75,420  

65 | P a g e  

 



 

There are no restrictions on Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori property, plant and equipment, 
nor any property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities. 

9. Intangible assets 
 

  2014/15 
  

  
Acquired 
Software WIP Total 

  $ $ $ 
Cost of valuation       
Balance at 1 July 2013  102,762  –   102,762  
Additions  1,429  –  1,429  
       – 
Balance at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014  104,191   –  104,191  
Additions  7,691   31,350   39,041  
Disposals  (47,880)   (47,880) 
Balance at 30 June 2015  64,002   31,350   95,352  
        
Accumulated amortisation       
Balance at 1 July 2013  61,784  –   61,784  
Amortisation expense  12,738  –  12,738  
       -  
Balance at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014  74,522  –   74,522  
Amortisation expense 12,891  –   12,891  
Disposals (47,880) – (47,880) 
Balance at 30 June 2015  39,533  –   39,533  
        
Carrying amounts       
At 1 July 2013  40,978  –   40,978  
Balance at 30 June 2014 and 1 July 2014  29,669  –  29,669  
At 30 June 2015  24,469   31,350   55,819  

There are no restrictions over title of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori intangible assets, nor any 
intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities. 

10. Payables 
 

2013/14     2014/15 
actual     actual 

$     $ 
  Payables under exchange transactions     

 146,690  Creditors   829,235 
 417,664  Accrued expenses   118,444 

–  Other    – 
 564,354  Total payables under exchange transactions   947,679 
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  Payables under non-exchange transactions   
 439,693  Taxes payables (GST, PAYE, and rates)   – 

–  Grants payable    – 
–  Grants received subject to conditions   – 

439,693  Total payables under non-exchange transactions – 
 1,004,047  Total payables    947,679 

Trade creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settle on 
30-day terms. 

The carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value. 

11. Employee entitlements 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
Actual   Actual 

$ 
 

$ 
  Current portion   

 72,569  Accrued salaries and wages 51,873 
 82,637  Annual leave 81,844 
 42,880  Other 25,474 

 198,085  Total current portion 159,191 
      
  Non-current portion   

 11,574  Long services leave 4,397 
 11,574  Total non-current portion 4,397 

 209,659  Total employee entitlements 163,588 

 12. Contractual commitments and operating leases 

The future aggregate minimum payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases, 
contract and accommodation lease commitments are as follows: 
 

2013/14     2014/15 
actual     actual 

$     $ 
 Non-cancellable operating leases   

 9,072  Not later than one year   4,680 
 9,334  Later than one year and not later than five years 3,900 

–  Later than five years    – 
 18,406  Total non-cancellable operating leases   8,580 

        
 Contractual commitments   

 1,759,290  Not later than one year   2,354,880 
 2,320,484  Later than one year and not later than five years 1,784,444 

–  Later than five years   –  
 4,079,774  Total contractual commitments   4,139,324 
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  Accommodation lease commitments      
 241,712  Not later than one year   – 

–  Later than one year and not later than five years – 
–  Later than five years   – 

 241,712  Total accommodation lease commitments   – 

A telephone system is leased by Te Taura Whiri I Te Reo Māori on a 60-month term, 
finishing in April 2017, with a monthly rental of $390 (GST exclusive). 

The lease for accommodation occupied by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori expired on 30 June 
2015 and is currently on a month to month lease agreement. 

The contract commitments shows the future Research & Development, CBLI and Ma Te Reo 
contractual obligations of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori that will become liabilities if and 
when the terms and conditions of existing contracts are met. 

13. Related party transactions 
 

2013/14     2014/15 
actual     actual 

$     $ 
  Board Members     

 68,418  Remuneration   56,418 
 3.70  Full-time equivalent members   2.90 

  Leadership Team     
 603,291  Remuneration   568,893 

 3.92  Full-time equivalent personnel   2.90 
 671,709  Total key management personnel remuneration 625,311 

 7.62  Total full time equivalent personnel   5.80 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is wholly owned by the Crown.  

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are 
within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or 
less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm's length in the same circumstances. 
Further, transactions with other government agencies and Crown Entities are not disclosed 
as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating 
arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and 
conditions for such transactions. 

14. Board member remuneration 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$   $ 
 31,968  Erima Henare (Chairman)  29,304  
 11,925  Te Awanuiarangi Black  14,514  

 4,275  Evelyn Tobin – 
 9,675  Katarina Edmonds  6,750  
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2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

$   $ 
 10,575  Poia Rewi  2,250  

–  Ruka Broughton  1,800  
–  Hinurewa Poutu  1,800  

 68,418  Total Board member remuneration  56,418  

15. Employee remuneration 
 

2013/14   2014/15 
 actual    actual 

 $'000   
 Total remuneration paid or payable   

 – 100 – 109 2 
 – 110 – 119 1 
 – 120 – 129 – 
 – 130 – 139 – 
1 140 – 149 – 
1 150 – 159 1 

 – 160 – 169 – 
–  170 – 179  – 
1 180 - 189 – 
3 Total employees paid over $100,000 4 

During the year ended 30 June 2015 there were no compensation payments. 

16. Financial instruments 
 

2013/14       2014/15 
 actual        actual 

$       $ 
    Loans and receivables     

 4,396,511    Cash and cash equivalents     6,127,816  
 224,629    Receivables    33,467  

    Investments – term deposits      
 4,621,140    Total loans and receivables   6,161,283 

          
    Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense 

 580,000    Investments – equity investments   150,000 
          
    Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   

 146,690    Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable and 
t  i d bj t t  diti  

   829,235  
726,690   Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  979,235 
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17.  Community funding 

Historically, the Mā te Reo fund was established by the Government with $15 million (GST 
inclusive) for the promotion of opportunities for Māori development through language. The 
overall objective of the fund is to provide financial assistance to whānau, hapū, iwi and Māori 
organisations to develop community originated Māori language projects, programmes and 
activities that contribute to Māori language revitalisation. Preference is given to applicants 
working towards the same general ends as the Māori Language Strategy and Māori 
language revitalisation in general. 

This financial year, the Mā te Reo fund received a $2.5 million (GST inclusive where 
applicable) grant to continue the next round of funding. $0.250 million is used to monitor and 
evaluate these funds, which is recorded in the Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori operating 
revenue. The Government grant is not a secured funding source and must be applied for 
annually. 

The funds managed on behalf of the Mā te Reo fund are held separately from Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori investments. Administration fees are not incurred by the fund; they are 
incurred by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. The allocation of funds for grants is treated as 
expenditure in the year the allocation is made. Prior to the end of the financial year, the grant 
must have received approval from the Fund Management Committee. 
 

 
Mā te Reo 

He Kāinga 
Kōrerorero 

Community Based 
Language Initiatives - 
Te Kura Whānau Reo Total 

  $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2013 3,125,997  –  –  3,125,997  
          
Government grants 2,250,000  1,500,000  684,707  4,434,707  
Prior year grants returned 176,990  –   – 176,990  
Interest earned 163,647  –   – 163,647  
Total income 2,590,637  1,500,000  684,707  4,775,344  
          
Grants awarded  1,067,298  –   – 1,067,298  
Contractors –   1,500,000   684,707  2,184,707  
Investment fees paid  8,367  –   – 8,367  
Administration costs relating to monitoring 

d l ti  
 37,500  –   – 37,500  

Total expenditure 1,113,165  1,500,000  684,707  3,297,872  
          
Contracts surplus for the year 1,477,472  –   – 1,477,472  
          
Balance at 30 June 2014 4,603,469  –   – 4,603,469  
          
Government grants 2,250,000  1,500,000  836,040  4,586,040  
Prior year grants returned 10,775  –   – 10,775  
Interest earned 159,410  –   – 159,410  
Total income 2,420,185   1,500,000   836,040  4,756,225  
          
Grants awarded  2,685,156  –   –  2,685,156  
Contractors  – 1,500,000   836,040  2,336,040  
Investment fees paid  8,284  –   –  8,284  
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Mā te Reo 

He Kāinga 
Kōrerorero 

Community Based 
Language Initiatives - 
Te Kura Whānau Reo Total 

  $ $ $ $ 
Total expenditure  2,693,440   1,500,000   836,040   5,029,480  
          
Contracts surplus for the year (273,255) –   – (273,255) 
          
Balance at 30 June 2015 4,330,214  –   – 4,330,214  

The balance for Mā te Reo above is split into current and non-current as follows: 
 

 
 June 2015 June 2014 

Current 4,180,214  4,023,469  
Non-current 150,000  580,000  
Balance of fund on 30 June 4,330,214  4,603,469  

18. Explanation of significant variance against budget 

Explanations for significant variations from the organisation's budgeted figures in the 
Statement of Performance Expectations are listed below. 

Statement of comprehensive income 

Total revenue 

Total revenue for the year was $0.277 million more than budgeted, due to more interest 
being received and higher than anticipated sponsorship. 

Total expenditure 

Total expenditure was under budget by $3.248 million due to underspends in CBLI and 
research and development. 

Statement of financial position 

Cash and bank 

Cash and bank was more than budgeted by $0.975 million, mainly due to lower than 
expected expenditure in CBLI and research and development fund. 

19. Contingencies 

There are no contingent liabilities at reporting date (2014: $nil). 

There are no contingent assets at reporting date (2014:$nil). 
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20. Adjustments arising on transition to the new PBE accounting standards 

Reclassification adjustments 

There have been no reclassifications on the face of the financial statements in adopting the 
new PBE accounting standards. 

Recognition and measurement adjustments 

The table below explains the recognition and measurement adjustments to the 30 June 2014 
comparative information resulting from the transition to the new PBE accounting standards. 
 

  
NZ IFRS (PBE) 

2014 Adjustment 

PBE 
accounting 

standards 2014 
Statement of financial position       
Current liabilities       
Mā te Reo agency fund   923,250  (923,250) – 
Non-current liabilities       
Mā te reo agency fund 3,680,219  923,250  4,603,469 
        
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense       
Mā Te Reo Fund contract expenses  1,859,425  (923,250) 936,174 
        
Statement of changes in equity       
Balance at 30 June 2014  3,544,904 – 3,544,904 

Explanatory note – adjustment on transition to the new PBE accounting standards 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has reviewed all its funding arrangements to identify those 
non-exchange expenses arrangements that in substance included unfulfilled conditions at 
1 July 2013 and 30 June 2014. For those arrangements with unfulfilled conditions at these 
dates, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has determined the extent to which the conditions 
attached to the funding have been satisfied and therefore the amount of funds expensed that 
shall be recognised as expenses. The remainder is recognised as a liability. This has given 
rise to the above adjustments to the 2013-14 financial statements, presented as comparative 
information. 

21. Late provision of information 

Because of the workload required to transfer both the 2014/15 accounts and the prior year 
comparator (2013/14) to the new PBE IPSAS format, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori was 
unable to meet the statutory obligation under the Crown Entities Act (section 156(1)) to 
provide either PBE IPSAS compliant annual report or appropriate responses to all audit 
queries to the Auditor-General within three months of the end of the financial year. This 
meant that the Auditor-General was unable to provide an audit report within four months 
after the end of the financial year. 
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22. Significant events after balance date 

The Māori Language (Te Reo Māori) Bill passed its first reading in Parliament on 24 July 
2014. The Bill contains provisions to: 

• establish an independent entity, Te Mātāwai, to provide leadership on behalf of iwi and 
Māori regarding the health of the Māori language and 

• transfer responsibility and oversight for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori from the Crown 
to Te Mātāwai. 

On 19 October 2015, Cabinet agreed, as per Cabinet Minute CAB-15-MIN-0168 that: 

• the Bill provide for the development of two distinct, but related, Māori Language 
Strategies: 
o the Maihi Karauna (Crown) Strategy to be developed by Te Puni Kōkiri and 

approved by the Minister, and focus on language planning and policy at the 
government and national (or macro) level 

o the Maihi Māori (Māori) Strategy to be developed by Te Mātāwai and approved in 
a manner to be determined by Te Mātāwai, and focus on language planning and 
policy at the iwi and community (or micro) level 

• the following community language programmes administered by Te Taura Whiri be 
transferred to Te Mātāwai when the Minister is confident that Te Mātāwai is able to 
undertake a fund administration role: 
o Mā te Reo ($2.500 million per annum) 
o Community-Based Language Initiatives ($2.317 million per annum) 
o He Kāinga Kōrerorero ($1.500 million per annum) 
the timing of the transfer to be in consultation with the Minister of Finance provided it is 
within 18 months following the enactment of the Bill 

• $1 million of the $2 million appropriated for Māori language research be transferred 
from Te Taura Whiri to Te Mātāwai beginning 2016/17. 

The Bill is expected to be enacted in 2016. 
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